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EXECUTIVE SUMMARY

JtudioAmmons was asked to provide Historic Petersburg Foundation with the following items
as part of a comprehensive study of the Exchange Building and its History. These take the
form of an Historic Structure Report which contains the following items:

1. A detailed history of the structure, its uses and a chronology of construction including a
description of all changes to the building made over time.

2. A description and evaluation of the existing conditions of the building as of the
undertaking of this analysis. This section will be informed by a systematic accounting of
all features, materials and space according to age, significance and condition.

3. Alisting of preservation needs and a recommended ranking of the priority order in which
they should be addressed. The assessment of preservation needs shall be governed by
the intent of the owner to continue the use of the building as a public space capable
of safely welcoming and informing visitors as well as housing artifacts and displays
significant to the history of the city and its citizens.

4. Provide a recommended schedule of cyclical and preventative maintenance for the
systems and fabric of the structure to ensure its ongoing preservation.

The Petersburg Exchange Building is an 1839-41 Greek Revival building located at 15-19 West
Bank Street in downtown Petersburg, Virginia. It was one of the first generation of buildings

to be nominated to the National Register of Historic Places. The builder for the Exchange, is
believed to have been a Mr. Berrian, who was known to have worked for the New York architect
Calvin Pollard. The design of both the Petersburg Hustings Courthouse and St. Paul’s Episcopal
Church (originally on Sycamore Street), are attributed to Pollard and recent research by Sergei
Troubetzkoy points to Pollard as the architect of the Exchange Building also.

The Exchange Building was constructed in the immediate years following the market crash of
1837. In contrast to most city markets at that time, it was a private development organized by

a group of prominent Petersburg merchants. Its Greek Revival design followed the traditions
and trends of its time taking cues from other monumental market buildings such as Quincy Hall
in Boston and from the temple form of its contemporary, the Charleston Market Hall which was
being constructed at approximately the same time.

The south-facing five-bay building has two stories set on a ground story with a basement below
grade. The building is constructed of brick with granite trim and a scored stucco front elevation
to simulate ashlar masonry. The metal-sheathed hip roof has a ten-sided cupola at its apex
relating to a domed rotunda on the interior. The salient feature of the front is a monumental
Doric portico on a high base with granite steps. Other major exterior features include Doric
entablature across the front, corner pilasters, tall round-arched Italianate windows on the side
elevations, and a late-twentieth-century Modernist elevator tower on the rear elevation.

The building was initially constructed as a commodity exchange while also providing meeting
space for organizations and as an auction venue. Within its first decade, the Exchange system

fell out of popularity among merchants and the enterprise began to fall on hard times. By 1856
the building failed to secure the minimum bid at auction leading one local paper to suggest

that it become the new public library. In 1858, it was ultimately purchased by the tobacco
manufacturer Rueben Ragland who leased it to the newly formed Bank of Petersburg in 1860 until
it failed in 1865 along with the collapse of the Confederacy.
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For the next 70 years, the Exchange Building was occupied for a variety of office and commercial
uses, including “Heinemann’s Exchange” until it was purchased, in 1927, by the City of Petersburg and
turned into the city's new Police Headquarters. The building remained the Police Headquarters until
1973 when it was fully renovated for use as the Siege Museum focused on life in the city during the
nine-month Siege of Petersburg leading to the end of the Civil War. The building has been open to
the public as a museum and meeting space since that time and remains so today with limited public
access and volunteer staffing.

The current set of recommendations include short-term and long-term recommendations as well as
the framework of a strategic vision for the restoration of the Exchange Building, beginning with the
current Save America’s Treasures grant scope of work. Short term recommendations are focused
on remediation of water infiltration (roof, windows, exterior finishes, and site drainage) along with
some limited structural issues including flooring repairs at the second floor and limited repairs to the
dome framing and in the north basement area. Long term recommendations include the majority
of interior restoration work and systems upgrades along with upgrades for the building’s ongoing
public use as a visitor center, museum, and meeting facility.

. ‘.

rl"r 7
V2%
L.

[ .

Former Governor and current State Senator Mark Warner speaks in the Exchange Building rotunda to kick-off the Save America's Treasures grant work
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|. BACKGROUND: THE MARKET BUILDING

The ‘Public Market

or centuries, markets have been created as appointed places of exchange established at defined
locations marked by physical boundaries or landmarks. The act of buying and selling food and
commodities, from services to goods, has gone hand-in-hand with the growth and development
of towns and cities, defining the relationship and dependencies between rural and urban culture.
Early in its development, the market was typically located in the civic center—often a large

open square used for a range of public functions. As a neutral space the market/civic center or
“agora” to the ancient Greeks, served not only as a location for trade and commerce, but also as
the community’s center for administrative, legislative, judicial, social, and religious activities. The
market was not always located on public lands but it developed with public purpose and
ultimately created a recognized public space — neutral territory where the rules for exchange
and distribution were understood.

From its beginning, the market was a landmark, its location sometimes defined by a single stone, a
“market cross” or a particular feature of the land or adjacent waterway. As the importance of the
market grew, the use of a simple cross or physical marker was often replaced by a more elaborate
structure sometimes taking the form of a gateway or pavilion or introducing an urban feature like a
fountain or clock tower. As local populations increased so did demand for market space with stalls
filling up streets and alleys and spilling into the adjoining streets (another type of public space),
ultimately creating what would come to be the “market square” in a designated “commercial
district” in a town or city. Europe’s grand piazzas and squares developed from the original form and
function of the market square.
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Market Cross at Stowe-on-the-Wold - many small town markets were Engraving of Malmsbury Market Cross with the cross incorporated into a
located at a triangular or irregular shaped space in the center of town. more substantial pavilion structure.

The Market Fountain, Carlsbad, Bohemia
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The Mixed-Use - Market Hall

%e mixed-use market and Town Hall building (market hall) is the earliest form of European
government building most often represented by a single building with an enclosed meeting room
set over an open, or arcaded, ground floor and situated, in the center of, or adjacent to, a public
open space or “square.” Formalizing the organization of the market helped reduce clutter on the
street and while facilitating the enforcement of the market’s collections tools, weights, measures,
and other market fees, which were, in turn, used to pay for the construction of other municipal
buildings. As Carl Lounsbury has observed: “the most basic function and one integral to towns of a
certain size and economic diversity is the marketing of goods, particularly foodstuffs such as meat,
poultry, cheese, eggs, butter, and vegetables. ... At the heart of any town's prosperity was market
day where tradesmen and itinerant hagglers retailed their wares in the open market place. ... The
local market was not a free-wheeling, open-ended emporium of petty capitalists, although there
was a strong push to make it so in many English and American towns in the eighteenth century,
rather it was a highly-regulated system watched over by the clerk of the market in concert with
other corporate officials” [Carl Lounsbury. The Williamsburg Market House: Where’s the Beef?
1990, Colonial Williamsburg Foundation Library Research Report Series 245]. Medieval traditions of
market laws continued in the colonies functioning to protect citizens from profiteering, fraud, and
cheating, while provided a ready supply of high-quality produce to townspeople, and guaranteed
the "market peace,” a safe and orderly place for both sellers and buyers.

Market hall — Ross-on-Wye, England Market Hall — Chipping Campden, England
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The Market Hall in cAmerica

It is this English and European tradition of the mixed-use market and Town Hall building that comes
to the colonies in the 18th century and continues to dominate as the favored approach to the
design of market/civic buildings, evolving throughout the next two centuries as towns and city’s
grow and prosper.

In the colonies, market halls begin showing up by the end of the 17th or early 18th centuries, first
as small open frame structures or market pavilions followed by more permanent buildings set in
central, urban locations. The American market hall of the 18th century often contained the city
hall and jail as well as official scales and timepieces. Courts and lock-ups were held there, public
records stored and both public punishment and announcements took place at the market.

Reconstruction of the 18th c. Market Hall, Williamsburg, VA. Early market hall pavilion — Louisville, GA
— photo courtesy of Willie Graham

The Boston Town Hall was an early market hall building constructed in 1657 and stood in the center
of State Street. By 1713 it had been replaced by the new brick State House, following the example of
the English market hall with a merchant exchange on the ground floor and the government meeting
space above. Boston’s Faneuil Hall was constructed by 1742, also following the English market hall
form and likely became the precedent for other later market halls in growing colonial cities such as
the Brick Market in Newport, and the Market House in Providence, Rhode Island.

SN ae
;_yl]mll_ III] |; m ';-?s

Fanewi! Hall — Boston, MA Market Hall — Providence, RI
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In the English market hall the design and detailing of the ground floor arcade is a direct expression
of the power and affluence of the local government. As this building type is brought to the colonies,
the arcade continues to be a civic symbol, a foundational part of both core market hall functions —
in its traditional role as an organizer of commerce, and reinterpreted as the logia or arcaded portico
(the “piazza™) on early colonial courthouses. The arcaded logia is typically fronted by, or connected
to, a public “green” or “square,” another reference to the market hall’s position in the traditional
English market square. This adaptation represents one way government and market functions
begin to separate from each other while still reflecing the architectural precedents inherent in the
traditional market hall building type.

- =%

Old Market Hall — Shrewsbury, England Hanover Courthouse — Hanover County, VA

In addition to the mixed-use market hall building type, other representative elements of the
traditional European market found their way into the design of the American market or town square
including the fountain, bell tower, clock tower and civic monument, often serving a similar role as
the early market cross or boundary stones by marking an important civic place, but also serving as
a symbol of order and control over commerce, time, and messaging.
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Market Hall with clock tower — Fayettville, NC Market Hall Head House used as Fire House — South
’ Second Street Market, Philadelphia, PA
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The market hall building form remained in use through the late-19th century until the demands of
both the growing urban population and the increased requirements of civic administration fostered
the development of separate, more distinct building types. Functions that often shared space and
use of the market hall, such as the town hall, fire departments, armories, and theaters were now
being located in their own, purpose-built buildings with the market hall shifting to a central location
in a market square often flanked by market streets or alleys or centered in a widened street,
effectively turning the street into the market square and facilitating better through-traffic access.

Market Hall / Fire House — Georgetown, SC Plan of South Second Street Market in Philadelphia located in the center of an enlarged street
and extending for multiple blocks

During the latter half of the 19th century, many towns and cities replaced their open market sheds
with fully enclosed market buildings in hopes of cleaning up downtown streets and facilitating
more efficient traffic flow. These enclosed market buildings sought to mimic some of the features
of earlier market halls or sheds through the use of interior streets lined with vendor stalls and
clerestory windows bringing light and air into the building. The enclosed market house could be
open year-round and offer a more upscale experience for consumers.
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. PETERSBURG — A MARKET TOWN

C})etersburg was founded at the upper most reach of the navigable portion of what is today known
as the Appomattox River. Prior to European settlement in the areaq, it was already a hub of Native

American trade — a significant point where trading paths that led deep inland through the Piedmont
of Virginia and North Carolina first met navigable water below the Fall Line. As a trading center,
both for the Appomattoc Indians and early European settlers, this early colonial outpost grew into
one of the most prosperous commercial centers in the region by the middle of the eighteenth

century.
Petersburg was established as a town in 1748 and by the time of the American Revolution,
Petersburg had seven tobacco inspectors and numerous tobacco merchants. During the nineteenth

century, the city became renowned as a commercial and industrial center for
processing and sale of cotton, tobacco, and metal, and shipping products out of the

region. The forced labor of enslaved African Americans generated much of these
commodities and the ensuing wealth enjoyed by white slave owners.

On into the 19th century, until its economy collapsed after the nine-month siege
it endured at the close of the American Civil War, Petersburg grew as a center
of distribution and trade for the Southside Virginia and North Carolina regions

with its regional road system and five railroads converging in the city. It had
become the terminus for the Upper Appomattox River Canal which brought goods
from Virginia's Piedmont region, and Its harbor, on the Appomattox River in Old Town,

shipped cotton, tobacco, and other goods to ports around the world.
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cAppomattox ‘Point &S the Indian Trade

In the 1600s, just north of Petersburg’s Old Town, the Appomattox River took a sharp turn around a
horn of land known as Appomattox Point. The Quaker Indian traders Robert Hix and John Evans set
up a trading post there in the late seventeenth century. They were later joined by Richard Jones,
the son of Peter Jones who established the trading post near Short Market and Old Streets. Jones
inherited this land from his grandfather, Abraham Wood, the commander of Fort Henry. Wood
had a monopoly on the Indian trade until Bacon’s Rebellion in 1676, and during that time had led or
dispatched from Fort Henry the most important seventeenth-century explorations in British North
America. Fort Henry and Appomattox Point anchored the northern end of the trading path that led
southward to the Nottoway, Meherrin, and Tuscarora Indians, and connected just to the west to the
trading path that led southwestward to Hillsborough, North Carolina, home of the Cherokees and the
Catawbas. In the early 18th century, as increased settlement pushed the colonial frontier westward
and southward, trade with the Indians followed this movement away from Petersburg.
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Approximate route of the Occaneechi Trail connecting Fort Henry to the interior of North Carolina
— map by StudioAmmons

Tobacco Inspections

In 1705, Richard Jones sold the land at Appomattox Point to the well-placed and ambitious Robert
Bolling, who, around 1716, constructed, on what is still described today as market square, a “rolling
house” (a tobacco warehouse to which huge hogsheads of tobacco were literally rolled, often
for forty to sixty miles). In 1730, the Virginia General Assembly passed legislation ordering that
all tobacco intended for export had to be inspected at official inspections (owned by private
individuals but manned by inspectors employed by the colony). Bolling’s Appomattox Point
Inspection (later known as Bolling's Point) was among the first designated colonial inspections. The
opening of Southside Virginia and northern North Carolina to settlement in the early-to-mid-18th
century made the Petersburg area the center of the North American tobacco trade. There were six
others within a half mile, but Appomattox Point became the best-known inspection in all of Virginia.
Its store of tobacco was burned by the British during the American Revolution in 1781, and it was
eventually closed after a second fire in 1783.
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II. PETERSBURG — A MARKET TOWN - cont'd
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Settlement in the Petersburg area in the 18th century prior to the American Revolution. The three communities of Petersburg, Wittentown, and Blandford
would eventually be incorporated into the town of Petersburg in 1748. —Map by StudioAmmons

Old Market Square

CI-;\e location of Bolling’s warehouse had probably seen informal use as a market, when in 1791, Robert
Bolling and the City agreed that it was to be used, “in perpetuity,” as a market free of charge to the
vendor, or it would revert to Bolling ownership. The first market building, on the site, was destroyed
in the Great Fire of 1815, which burned it, and most of downtown around it.

1783 Plat of Robert
Bolling's Bollingbrook
development showing
the "Bolling Warehouse
Square” which was later
to become the city's Old
Market Square. In the
second decade of the

o 21st century, the City
of Petersburg sold the
Old Market Square to a
private developer who has

# redeveloped the market

building into a restaurant.
1t s not known if the
Bolling's reversion clause is
still in effect.
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Detail of the 1877 Beers Map of Petersburg showing Old Market Square and the area known as "Appomatiox Pomt” and later ”Bollmg s Pomt " The
1878 octagonal Farmers Market building has not been built yet.

The Square was defined in 1808, when Cockade Alley was laid out on the eastern edge, and in 1815,
when the new market buildings were pulled back to the north, allowing the extension of Old Street
eastward to Cockade Alley. Rock Street and River Street were ancient roads. Soon the periphery
of the square was entirely surrounded by brick buildings with market-related stores and shops
below and dwellings above. In 1854, the South Side Depot replaced the buildings on the northern
periphery, and most of the remaining buildings were removed in the third quarter of the twentieth
century.

Mud-20th c. view of the brick buildings surrounding Old
Market Square. The Farmers Market building's canopy can
be seen on the lefi. The buildings on the right would have
stood along Old Street where the City parking lot is today.

L : OLE MAHRET .rl.lll:Ill-q W -.J

Above: The present market building is the fourth market building to occupy the site. It
was bwilt in 187879, and was originally known as the Farm Market Center:. It was
designed by the Baltimore-trained carpenter B.J. Black, a captain of one of Petersburg’s
volunteer companies during the Civil War. Generally, meats were sold inside and produce
outside.

Left: Sanborn Insurance map from 1885 showing the build-out of Old Market Square
and the recently constructed octagonal Farmers Market building

Market Square eag
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The ‘Petersburg Exchange

q-;\e Petersburg Exchange Building was constructed just after the great crash of 1837 and may
have been a way for its founding group of Petersburg businessmen to quickly establish credibility
and confidence after the recent financial turmoil that swept the nation. Although the Petersburg
Exchange was a private venture, the Exchange Building was constructed in the style and fashion of
a public market hall with market bays flanking both alley sides of the Ground Floor and a meeting/
trading room above, on the First Floor. It is likely that its operations were evolving as it was being
developed since the concept of trading commodity shares was taking hold in many larger cities
in the United States at this time. This group of Petersburg merchants and businessmen may
have been looking to follow this trend by operating a hybrid model that included both the trading
of goods and services with the trading of commodity stocks. The Exchange Building ceased to
operate as an exchange within the first decade of its existence. Just prior to the outbreak of the
Civil War, the building was occupied by the Bank of Petersburg. After the war, the building was
marketed as premium commercial space and was occupied by a variety of businesses until it,
ultimately, becomes a public building in 1927 when it was purchased by the city for use as their
police headquarters. One might say that the building was more of a monument to its founding
shareholders since as an exchange, it appears to have been a business failure.
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Image from the Petersburg Directory advertising for Heinman's Exchange — note that the alley openings are still full openings
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The Triangle — New Market ((enter SMarket)

In 1850, the City of Petersburg purchased a triangle of land at

the intersection of Halifax and Harrison Streets for use as a 11 W ™ s

public market. A thriving market evolved on "The Triangle" H El ! ‘ - i _ gk
as it was the location where Boydton Plank Road (Halifax HpEEm Ly T ;
Street) came into the city connecting farmers and merchants T » [ E Al =
from throughout Southside Virginia with the mills, ports L K i |

and commercial operations in Petersburg. Municipal scales
were located on The Triangle at the Center Market building
where produce and other goods were officially weighed and
recorded. The Triangle was an integrated city market from
its inception but in the 1870's, with the end of Reconstruction, g }}% R
as conservative, white leadership took back control in the n i § ;
state legislature, many African American business owners, a4 = e
from the adjacent neighborhoods or Gillfield and Ravenscroft, i A &: : 1\. v gl
began to concentrate in the area of the market resulting in |
the growth of a strong African American commercial district
in and around The Triangle. In 1885 The “New Market”

AR,
e
i
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A

building replaced the Center Market on The Triangle and = e

in conjunction with the many other groceries, bakeries, i .
restaurants, and stores set on the surrounding blocks, served o] B
as an important place for residents to exchange goods and f = 1.
services, mingle, socialize, and keep up with the news and %1{"_ i
current events, continuously operating black-owned business iy -l

in Virginia. ik T VP 1k
1897 Sanborn Map showing The Triangle
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Posteard looking north on Halifax Street showing the Ne Market (right) in the early 20th century
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I[I. NOTES on BANK STREET

Early 20th c. view from High Street looking east down West Bank Street with May's Row on the lefi. Note the Academy of Music (center right) with the

three-building "Garden Row" in the center with the Paul Nash Store and Dwelling on its right (demolished by the city in 2019). The Baine's Bottling
Waorks can be seen on the south side of the street. (Far right)

‘Bank Street — cAn Introduction

(]T'we following chronology will form a loose timeline for the development of Bank Street in the
context of the development of this part of Downtown Petersburg through the early to mid
nineteenth century. Bank Street's development as a location for banks, lawyers, and newspaper
publishing made it one of Petersburg's premier, upscale, commercial streets and a prime location
for the construction of the Exchange Building, not as a public market, but appropriating the form

of the public market hall in a monumental expression of the power and ambition of a select group
of Petersburg's elite business leaders.

The following accounting of the development of Bank Street and the urban context of the
Exchange Building is based on conversations with Dulaney Ward and follows his research into the
people and events that shaped this early phase in Petersburg's history as a leader in regional,
national, and international trade. We have used overlays on the 1877 Beers Map to help illustrate
the growth and development of Bank Street. Other early map sources are represented where
they can help provide context for the development of this part of Downtown.
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‘Bank Street ((hronology

By 1720

Hi{;h Street and Sycamore Street (known as Halifax then) start out as trading paths and
eventually become rolling roads for the transport of hogsheads of Tobacco. At this time,
High Street curved gently down to Old Street (through the area that would become
May's/Smith’s Row) and down to the Trading Post (Peter Jones' Trading Post). It split
near the bend towards the river with a second road leading to Old Street to a point
approximately where the Carriage House Apartments entrance is today and just east

of the Brickhouse Run (one probable site of Fort Henry) before leading to Oyster Shell
Landing. This path takes it close to the Brickhouse Run which, at the time was an open
creek emptying into the Appomattox River at Flea Island. As early as 1703, The crossing
of the river was made via a toll bridge built using Flea Island and run by Edmund Browder,
who lived on the island.

1720

Peter Jones sold 10 acres on the east side of the Brickhouse Run to Sycamore Street to
Thomas Ravenscroft who lived in Williamsburg and was the sheriff of James City County.
Ravenscroft was the builder/carpenter who constructed Blandford Church later, around
1737. By 1745, with the additional purchases made by his son John, the Ravenscrofts
owned from the river to the bend in the Brickhouse Run (today at the rear of the Leonard
Hardware or District 19 property). and (from the bend in High Street to Sycamore
Street.?)

1760 (?)

Richard Hanson, owner and operator of the Golden Ball Tavern, purchases 7 acres to the
south to Brickhouse Run (possibly from Peter Jones Jr.). The western edge of the Golden
Ball property is either the curb-line along Market Street or the face of the west wall of
the one story building still remaining on the northeast corner of Market and West Bank
Streets.)What would become Bank Street now crosses two property owners, Ravenscroft
and Hanson.
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Map of Petersburg 1760s - 1780s showing the Water Street connection across the Brickhouse Run but Back Street (now East Bank Street) had not been
laid out yet and High Street turned towards the landing at the river (note Bolling's Market Square is shown in the center in red).
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High Street still veers to the north to the Trading Post (center of the Carriage House
Apartment building).

1774
John Tabb purchases Ravenscroft's lot but the deed was left in limbo due to the
Revolutionary War as John Ravenscroft was in Edinborough, Scotland during the war.

1784

Petersburg is incorporated as a town. The first public works project was the laying out

of streets. At this time instructions 